# (Un)Ethical Behavior in Organizations

Linda Klebe Treviño,<sup>1</sup> Niki A. den Nieuwenboer,<sup>2,\*</sup> and Jennifer J. Kish-Gephart<sup>3,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Smeal College of Business, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania 16802; email: ltrevino@psu.edu

<sup>2</sup>Leavey School of Business, Santa Clara University, Santa Clara, California 95053; email: ndennieuwenboer@scu.edu

<sup>3</sup>Sam M. Walton College of Business, University of Arkansas-Fayetteville, Arkansas 72701; email: jgephart@uark.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2014. 65:635-60

First published online as a Review in Advance on July 3, 2013

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at http://psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143745

Copyright © 2014 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

\*Authors contributed equally.

# Keywords

organizational ethics, ethical decision making, ethical leadership, moral identity, ethical infrastructures

#### **Abstract**

This review spotlights research related to ethical and unethical behavior in organizations. It builds on previous reviews and meta-analyses of the literature on (un)ethical behavior in organizations and discusses recent advances in the field. The review emphasizes how this research speaks to the influence of the organizational context on (un)ethical behavior, proceeding from a more macro to a more micro view on (un)ethical behavior and covering ethical infrastructures, interpersonal influences, individual differences, and cognitive and affective processes. The conclusion highlights opportunities for future research.

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	636
THEORETICAL HISTORY AND STAGE SETTING	637
ETHICAL INFRASTRUCTURE: CODES, PROGRAMS,	
CLIMATE, AND CULTURE	638
Ethics Codes and Programs	638
Ethical Climate	640
Ethical Culture	
INTERPERSONAL INFLUENCES	642
Peer Influence	642
Leader Influence	643
Just and Unjust Treatment by Managers	645
INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES	645
Moral Attentiveness	646
Moral Conation	646
Moral Identity	647
COGNITION AND COGNITIVE PROCESSES	648
Moral Disengagement	648
Decision Frames	649
EMOTIONS AND AFFECTIVE PROCESSES	650
EGO DEPLETION AND SELF-REGULATION PROCESSES	652
FUTURE RESEARCH	
Topics for Future Research	652
Continuing Theory Development	653
Methodological Issues	654
CONCLUSION	654

#### INTRODUCTION

Starting in the 1980s, the systematic study of (un)ethical behavior in organizations—often referred to as behavioral ethics in organizations or as organizational ethics (Treviño et al. 2006)—began to take shape. Over the years, a series of ethical debacles has only increased the salience of this area of study for practitioners and researchers alike. Indeed, as a testament to the growing interest among researchers, a number of literature reviews have appeared in recent years—including several qualitative reviews (O'Fallon & Butterfield 2005, Tenbrunsel & Smith-Crowe 2008, Treviño et al. 2006), a meta-analysis of research on the sources of unethical choice in organizations (Kish-Gephart et al. 2010), a meta-analysis of the ethical climate literature (Martin & Cullen 2006), and a meta-analysis of the whistleblowing literature (Mesmer-Magnus & Viswesvaran 2005). The meta-analytic reviews, in particular, represent a major advance, showing that enough research has been conducted for investigators to undertake such statistical reviews.

In this review, the term "ethical behavior" is used broadly to include both ethical and unethical behavior. Ethical behavior in organizations refers to the study of ethical and unethical decisions and behavior in an organizational context, especially in a work context. Drawing on an earlier review by Treviño and colleagues (2006), behavioral ethics researchers have, for the most part, studied three types of related outcomes: unethical behavior that is contrary to accepted moral

norms in society (e.g., lying, cheating, stealing); routine ethical behavior that meets the minimum moral standards of society (e.g., honesty, treating people with respect); and extraordinary ethical behavior that goes beyond society's moral minima (e.g., charitable giving, whistleblowing). Here, we focus primarily on the former two outcomes. In addition, following Tenbrunsel & Smith-Crowe (2008), our review assumes that actions need not be intentional in order to qualify as ethical or unethical. Finally, it is important to note that, although research on ethical behavior in organizations rests upon a social scientific base, the study of ethical behavior in organizations is far from value free. Most research in the field begins with the premise that ethical behavior in organizations is good and unethical behavior is bad, and that understanding the predictors of each can help organizations produce more of the former and less of the latter.

Some overlap exists in the above definitions of outcome variables with organizational behavior research on extrarole behavior (e.g., helping, voice) and deviance (e.g., theft). Although more work is needed to bring these overlapping literatures together (Treviño et al. 2006), the major distinction between these topic areas is that research on (un)ethical behavior focuses on behavior that is consistent or inconsistent with societal norms whereas the research on extrarole behavior and deviance focuses on behavior that is consistent or inconsistent with organizational norms. For example, behavior may be considered deviant (contrary to organizational norms) while being consistent with societal norms (e.g., external whistleblowing), or a behavior may be consistent with an organizational norm while being inconsistent with societal norms (e.g., deceiving customers).

Because readers can find in-depth and historical reviews in the papers cited above and other reviews to be cited below, our emphasis here is on work published within the past five to seven years. This review also is not exhaustive. Instead, we emphasize major areas of development and discuss significant and exemplary work within those areas. To develop a list of the most influential recent work, we supplemented our own search of the literature with recommendations of literature that we solicited from more than 20 experts in the field.

#### THEORETICAL HISTORY AND STAGE SETTING

Before moving to the detailed review, we highlight some of the major theories that have guided organizational ethics research in the past. This brief overview will not only help readers to understand why studying (un)ethical behavior "in organizations" is important, but it will also help set the stage for understanding the recent discussion about how ethical decisions are made, which is currently guiding many of the types of questions that are being asked and the methodologies that are being used.

Why is studying (un)ethical behavior "in organizations" significant? The assumption is that something very important changes when we examine (un)ethical behavior in an organizational context. People who are acting and making decisions in organizations are doing so within power and authority structures and under organizational, leader, and peer influences and constraints. According to Treviño's (1986) person-situation interactionist model of ethical decision making in organizations, for instance, organizations are influential in large part because people rely on others when they are determining how to think about an ethical dilemma. This model emphasized the importance of cognitive moral development theory (Kohlberg 1969) for understanding organizational ethics. On the basis of Lawrence Kohlberg's work on moral reasoning, we understand that most adults are at what he termed the conventional level of cognitive moral development, meaning that they are looking outside themselves for guidance when making ethical decisions. When applied to organizations, this theory explains the powerful influence of peers, leaders, significant others, rules, laws, and codes, all of which can guide employees' ethical decision making and behavior.

An important ongoing and overarching conversation in the field is related to the process of ethical decision making. Important in this respect has been Rest's (1986) rational and deliberative four-stage model of individual ethical decision making. According to the model, individuals facing an ethical dilemma first experience moral awareness: They recognize that the issue being faced is an ethical issue. Next, they engage in moral judgment, or the process of deciding what is right and wrong. They then form a moral motivation or intention, and finally, they take action. Since the introduction of the model, many organizational ethics studies have examined the effects of select individual-, situational-, and organizational-level factors on one or more of the four stages (O'Fallon & Butterfield 2005). Accordingly, much of the earlier work in this field has (implicitly or explicitly) assumed that individual ethical decision making operates in this highly deliberative, step-by-step fashion (Treviño et al. 2006).

In recent years, following a trend in moral psychology, behavioral ethics research has advanced the idea that ethical decision making is not always rational and deliberative but can also be affective, intuitive, and impulsive. The moral psychologist Jonathan Haidt (2001) is generally credited with offering the most significant challenge to the traditional deliberative approach, arguing that people react emotionally and automatically to ethically charged situations (e.g., with disgust or other emotions) and form instant judgments of right and wrong that are later rationalized.

This work has inspired the development of several models within the behavioral ethics literature that take a more intuitive approach. Reynolds (2006), for instance, proposed a neurocognitive model of ethical decision making, arguing that ethical decision making involves both a conscious deliberative process and a more automatic pattern-matching approach based on cognitive prototypes. He argued that people either first behave and then rationalize, or first make an active moral judgment and then behave. Around the same time, Sonenshein (2007) proposed a sensemaking intuition model, which argues that issues are not inherently ethical or unethical, but rather that, in response to the equivocal and uncertain environments that constitute work organizations, organizational members socially construct ethical issues through a process of sensemaking. Individuals then make quick intuitive judgments about these ethical issues, and finally, they justify these judgments to others. We point interested readers to a review of the literature on intuitive ethical decision making by Weaver and colleagues (2013).

In the following sections, we begin by discussing the organizational-level factors—representing organizations' ethical infrastructures—that researchers have examined as influencers in ethical decision making and behavior. We then move to the interpersonal level, where we discuss peer and leader influences. We continue with the individual level, focusing first on relatively stable individual differences and next on the cognitive and affective processes that can be triggered within individuals. We conclude with future directions for the field.

# ETHICAL INFRASTRUCTURE: CODES, PROGRAMS, CLIMATE, AND CULTURE

Because of the "in organizations" emphasis of this review, we begin with the ethical context in organizations. Tenbrunsel & Smith-Crowe (2008) referred to the organizational context as the organization's ethical infrastructure. The aspects of the infrastructure that are most commonly studied include ethics codes, ethics programs, ethical climate, and ethical culture.

# **Ethics Codes and Programs**

Ethics codes typically identify the organization's conduct standards, the types of ethical and legal issues employees are likely to face in their organization, and the organization's core values. Although

more and more organizations adopt such codes, research on the impact of code existence has produced mixed results, and a recent meta-analytic review found no significant independent effect of code existence on unethical choice (Kish-Gephart et al. 2010). It did find a negative effect of code enforcement (i.e., employees' perception that the existing code is enforced) on unethical behavior. The meta-analysis also found that when perceived code enforcement and other organizational variables (e.g., ethical culture and ethical climate) are taken into account simultaneously, code existence has a small positive effect on unethical behavior. This suggests that in the presence of these other factors, employees can view the mere existence of a code as a negative sign that the code represents window dressing only, thus producing a cynical response that leads to more unethical behavior. Organizations may therefore need to rethink their approach to codes and insure that, if they have codes, code adherence is closely tied to the performance management structure of the organization and to other organizational routines and is not viewed by employees as mere window dressing.

Although little recent academic research exists on codes, we point to one study that is tangentially related to ethics codes in organizations and adds an interesting twist to thinking about code signing. Many organizations require employees to sign the code of conduct annually. By signing the code, employees are purportedly attesting to the fact that they have read the code and that they agree to abide by it. In a recent study, Shu and colleagues (2012) altered the placement of a "pledge" to be honest—the pledge was placed either before the activity (at the top of a form) or after the activity (at the bottom of a form). In the laboratory as well as in a naturalistic setting (i.e., an insurance company where customers had to report their odometer mileage), the authors found that a pledge to be honest is more effective (cheating is lower) when it is placed at the beginning of an activity rather than at the end, as is often done. By making ethics salient before the activity, attention is directed to the self; thoughts of morality are activated and accessible at the right time. In contrast, placing the pledge after the activity allows for self-interested motivations and mental justifications to take over. This simple but powerful finding may apply to other pledges as well, including honor code pledges on exams or a pledge to adhere to a code of conduct at work. For example, it is unclear whether employees have read and understood the code when they are asked to attest that they have done so. The research by Shu and colleagues (2012) suggests that managers may find it worthwhile to ask employees to sign a form before important events, such as at the beginning of the annual compliance process, stating that employees will read the code and will answer compliance questions truthfully. If they are required to do that, they may be less likely to dishonestly sign an attestation at the end saying that they did read it and agree to abide by it when they did not read the code.

In sum, researchers need to know much more about the effect of ethics codes on attitudes and behavior. Although gaining access to organizational contexts presents many challenges, this is a necessary step to further understand when and why codes of conduct are effective. Indeed, organizations do not usually develop just a code and nothing more, suggesting the importance of studying codes not just on their own but as a part of a broader organizational context with other elements of formal ethics and compliance programs.

In addition to the code of conduct, a formal ethics and compliance program often includes training programs, telephone lines for those seeking guidance or avenues to (anonymously) report issues, investigation processes, and performance management systems that incorporate legal compliance standards and that discipline wrongdoers. Although the role of formal ethics and compliance programs, especially in large organizations, has grown considerably in the past 20 years, academic study in this field has remained scant. Though more practitioner focused, the Ethics Resource Center's National Business Ethics Survey (Ethics Resour. Cent. 2012) regularly surveys employees from a wide variety of regions who work in different types of US organizations. According to recent results, comprehensive ethics programs (that include multiple elements) are

associated with important outcomes such as reductions in felt pressure to compromise standards, observed misconduct, and perceived retaliation for reporting as well as increases in the reporting of misconduct. Future work should consider these ethics program components separately to determine whether some of them are more important and effective than others, or when and why combining some of them may produce the best results. For example, organizations spend millions of dollars on annual ethics training for their employees with little information about whether the training improves ethical decision making and/or behavior. Research that investigates new approaches to training (such as the giving-voice-to-values program that emphasizes the development of employees' voice efficacy; Gentile 2010) is needed to direct organizations' attention to training and its effects. Further, research attention to how ethics and compliance programs are managed, by whom, and with what effects, would also be helpful.

#### **Ethical Climate**

Victor & Cullen (1988, p. 101) defined ethical climate as "the prevailing perceptions of typical organizational practices and procedures that have ethical content" and "those aspects of work climate that determine what constitutes ethical behavior at work." Since the introduction of the ethical climate construct (Victor & Cullen 1988), studies have measured ethical climate almost exclusively as an individual perception rather than as an aggregated group-level construct. The related literature has been reviewed in both a meta-analysis (Martin & Cullen 2006) and a qualitative review (Simha & Cullen 2012). Most of the reviewed research supports the existence of five of the nine originally proposed climates that describe what people in the organization consider when they are faced with an ethical dilemma. In the instrumental or self-interested climate, people consider the self-interest of the organization or the individual. In a caring climate, people think about care and concern for others. In the independence climate, the individual makes decisions based on his or her own principles. In a rules climate and in a laws and codes climate, individuals consider either the organization's rules or society's laws and standards, respectively, when making decisions.

In Martin & Cullen's (2006) meta-analytic review of the ethical climate research, the authors found support for positive relationships between a caring climate and employee attitudes such as commitment and satisfaction, and a negative relationship between a caring climate and dysfunctional employee behavior. This research found the opposite relationships with self-interested climate. Similarly, Kish-Gephart and colleagues' (2010) meta-analysis studied the influences of three types of ethical climate (egoistic, benevolent, and principled) on unethical choice (intentions and behaviors) in organizations and found that egoistic climates were positively associated with unethical choice, whereas benevolent and principled climates were negatively associated with unethical choice.

Although less research exists on the antecedents of ethical climate, one study (Schminke et al. 2005) found that the leader's level of cognitive moral development positively influences employee perceptions of ethical climate and other employee attitudes. This work suggests that leader selection and development may be important for creating and sustaining an ethical climate and points to the potential importance of studying other antecedents of ethical climate.

More recently, Arnaud & Schminke (2012) demonstrated that the effects of ethical climate on reducing unethical behavior can be significantly enhanced if one takes into account moral emotion and moral efficacy. In particular, the relationship between employees' ethical climate perceptions (at the unit level) and work unit unethical behavior was enhanced by collective emotion (a shared sense of empathic concern in a department) and collective ethical efficacy (a shared belief that those in the department are capable of executing ethical action). Thus, this study explores the effects of ethical climate in a more complex way by demonstrating the conditions under which a

climate is likely to be more effective at influencing behavior. These authors relied upon Schminke's 16-item measure of ethical climate that conceptualizes ethical climate along two dimensions, self-focused and other-focused. In contrast to most ethical climate studies that have focused on the organizational level, this study demonstrated that subunit ethical climate also plays a significant role. More research will be needed to clarify the dimensionality of ethical climate (e.g., whether researchers should be using two, three, or five dimensions going forward). Research is also needed to better understand whether and when ethical climate is best studied at the organization or unit level (or both).

#### **Ethical Culture**

Treviño's (1986) ethical decision-making model, reviewed previously, emphasized the importance of the organizational context by introducing the notion of ethical culture as a moderator of the relationship between cognitive moral development and (un)ethical behavior. She later elaborated on the meaning of the ethical culture construct (Treviño 1990), suggesting that ethical culture is a subset of organizational culture and represents the interplay among the ethics-related formal (e.g., rules and policies, performance management systems) and informal (e.g., norms, language, rituals) organizational systems that influence employee ethical and unethical behavior. Similar to ethical climate research, survey research on ethical culture and its effects has treated ethical culture as an individual's perception of the organizational context rather than an aggregated group-level construct (e.g., Schaubroeck et al. 2012).

Although a meta-analysis found support for a negative relationship between ethical culture and unethical choices when studied independently, this relationship disappeared when other organization environment characteristics (three ethical climate dimensions and code existence and enforcement) were studied simultaneously (Kish-Gephart et al. 2010). This effect likely occurred because ethical culture was highly correlated with code enforcement as well as all three ethical climate dimensions. These findings indicate a need to determine whether and when ethical culture has a role to play in future research and what that role will be. For example, perhaps ethical culture precedes perceptions of ethical climate such that having a strong ethical culture influences employees' ethical climate perceptions.

Few recent studies have been conducted on ethical culture. A notable exception is Schaubroeck and colleagues' (2012) study of the effects of unit-level ethical culture on observed unethical behavior. Drawing on a sample of US Army soldiers in a study conducted across three levels of US Army units in Iraq, the researchers found that unit-level ethical culture mediated the relationship between ethical leadership and (un)ethical behavior, including transgressions against noncombatants and intentions to report misconduct. Similar to work on ethical climate, researchers need to better understand when organizational-level ethical culture may be important compared to unit-level ethical culture because, until recently, almost all ethical context work has measured individuals' perceptions of their organization's overall culture. Yet within the same organization, subunits may vary in terms of the ethical culture and climate environments they create.

Important components of ethical culture at the organization level are formal systems, including decision-making processes, organizational structure, and performance management systems. Because people in organizations pay such close attention to what is rewarded and what is disciplined, the performance management system—including setting goals and tying rewards to those goals—is particularly important. The role of goal setting in producing unethical behavior is being debated. Ordóñez and colleagues (2009a) claimed that goal setting may cause systematic harm when implemented without care, including increasing unethical behavior. They relied on their own work (e.g., Schweitzer et al. 2004) and on the research of others to propose a number of

mechanisms by which this might occur, including focusing attention too narrowly on bottomline goals to the exclusion of other ethical considerations, increasing risk taking, and increasing unethical behavior by motivating people to misrepresent performance in order to meet the goal. Locke & Latham (2009) criticized this work, citing an article of their own (Latham & Locke 2006) in which they outlined goal setting's potential pitfalls and possible antidotes. This article was followed by a rebuttal by the original authors (Ordóñez et al. 2009b). Although entering this debate is beyond the scope of our review, we note that more research is needed to understand when and how goal setting, as part of a broader performance management system, may contribute to unethical behavior. More research on other aspects of the performance management system is also needed. For example, how important is disciplining rule violators, and what are the effects of keeping that information private versus making it public in some way?

Taking a step back from the research on infrastructure, we note that researchers have rarely addressed how such organizational influences may fit into a conversation about ethical decision making as more automatic versus more deliberative. As an exception, Reynolds (2006) made some suggestions about how his neurocognitive model may be applied to understanding failures of organizational culture. For example, shared cognitive prototypes may be mislabeled, or the culture may emphasize a moral rule that is inappropriate. We would also expect that, over time, an organization's culture or climate is likely to become ingrained and internalized by organizational members, making it likely that certain behaviors may become automatic, simply becoming part of "the way we do things around here." In a strong ethical culture, for example, a salesperson should be less likely to lie to a customer because not lying "is" the way things are done, and the salesperson doesn't need to deliberate about that decision. Unfortunately, the opposite may also be true in organizations where lying to customers is the norm.

Our review of the recent research on organizational infrastructures finds that much more needs to be done to understand the relationships between and among its parts such as ethics programs (including codes), ethical climates, and ethical culture. We can say with certainty that the ethical infrastructure matters. But, what parts of it matter most—separately and together? And, how can we best characterize and measure ethical infrastructure? Answers to these questions are likely to provide valuable practical implications for organizations.

#### INTERPERSONAL INFLUENCES

In this section, we review research on another type of key contextual influence on (un)ethical behavior in organizations: the interpersonal influences of others in the work context, including peers as well as leaders. We also discuss the role of fair treatment by managers.

#### Peer Influence

For the traditional employee, coworkers are an important part of the everyday work experience. As such, peers represent a potentially powerful influence on (un)ethical behavior (Bandura 1986, Kohlberg 1969, Robinson & O'Leary-Kelly 1998). As Moore & Gino (2013) argue, peers "help to establish a standard for ethical behavior through their actions or inaction." Research on in-group member effects finds that when an in-group member cheats, other in-group members are also more likely to cheat (e.g., Gino et al. 2009a). According to a study by Gino & Galinsky (2012), this might be related to psychological closeness and feeling connected to someone who behaves unethically, as this "can create distance from one's own moral compass" (p. 15) and increase one's propensity to copy that unethical behavior as well as to engage in moral disengagement (discussed below).

One particularly interesting field study asked whether people adapt their level of unethical behavior based on local organizational norms. In a study of the behavior of vehicle emission testing inspectors, Pierce & Snyder (2008) found that when working across different facilities (i.e., switching job locations), inspectors adjusted their level of unethical behavior not gradually but almost immediately to conform to the local organizational norm of unethical behavior—which in this case meant allowing vehicles to pass the inspection despite failing the inspection criteria. However, as Pitesa & Thau (2013) found, not everyone is equally susceptible to such social influences. Because of a tendency to focus more on oneself than on others, people who are higher in power ignore (un)ethical social influences more easily and are less likely to copy others' (un)ethical behavior.

The influence of out-group members on unethical behavior is more complex. Out-group members who cheat influence people's unethical behavior, but less so than do in-group members (Gino et al. 2009a). In addition, in situations where another in-group member exhibits unethical behavior, the presence of an out-group member (observer) may trigger compensatory (overly ethical) behavior. Gino and colleagues (2009b) found that being observed by an out-group member induced guilt in in-group members, leading in-group members to compensate for their peer's unethical behavior.

Research also suggests that unethical behavior may be attenuated when peers make ethics salient by simply talking about it. Work by Gino and colleagues (2009a), for example, suggests that when a peer asks whether unethical behavior is acceptable or not, people cheat less. Other research similarly supports the salutary effects of discussing ethics with coworkers. Gunia and colleagues (2012) found that, compared to making quick choices, giving individuals the opportunity to have an ethics-directed conversation with a colleague influenced them to make more ethical decisions. However, having a conversation focused on self-interest produced more unethical decisions. Thus, employees should be encouraged to converse about ethical issues with peers. Such conversations must focus on ethics and not on self-interest.

What seems clear from this research is that peers do influence (un)ethical behavior, a finding with significant implications for organizations. Future research should aim to understand how groups of individuals collectively develop norms that support (un)ethical behavior.

#### Leader Influence

In addition to examining the role of peers, recent organizational ethics research has focused a great deal on systematically studying the role of leadership on (un)ethical behavior. In the context of organizational ethics, leadership is an especially important topic because leaders play a key role as authority figures and role models, and they influence subordinates' attitudes and behaviors.

Drawing on social learning theory (Bandura 1986), Brown and colleagues (2005) introduced the ethical leadership construct and developed a reliable survey measure. They defined ethical leadership as "the demonstration of normatively appropriate conduct through personal actions and interpersonal relationships, and the promotion of such conduct to followers through two-way communication, reinforcement, and decision making" (p. 120). According to the authors, employees attend to the behavior and messages of ethical leaders because of their attractiveness, credibility, and legitimacy as models as well as their status in the organization and power to affect employee outcomes. Their study found that ethical leadership is positively associated with followers' job satisfaction and voice. For other reviews on ethical leadership, we refer readers to Brown & Treviño (2006) and Brown & Mitchell (2010).

Research related to the antecedents of ethical leadership has just begun. Prior work on personality as an antecedent has demonstrated support for a relationship with conscientiousness but has produced mixed results related to agreeableness and neuroticism (Kalshoven et al. 2011).

Mayer and colleagues (2012) found support for a relationship between the leader's moral identity and employee perceptions of ethical leadership. Jordan and colleagues (2011) found that higher levels of leader cognitive moral development are related to employee perceptions of ethical leadership. Given the importance of ethical leadership for organizational outcomes (as discussed next), more work is needed to study both individual differences and contextual antecedents of ethical leadership (Brown & Treviño 2006).

Most ethical leadership research has examined the outcomes of this type of leadership, finding that ethical leadership improves employee attitudes, such as job satisfaction, affective commitment, and work engagement, and reduces turnover intentions (Brown et al. 2005, Kim & Brymer 2011, Neubert et al. 2009, Ruiz et al. 2011, Tanner et al. 2010). Research has also focused on positive behavioral outcomes, including citizenship behavior (Avey et al. 2011, Kacmar et al. 2011, Piccolo et al. 2010), voice (Brown & Treviño 2006, Walumbwa & Schaubroeck 2009), and job performance (Piccolo et al. 2010, Walumbwa et al. 2011). The study by Walumbwa and colleagues was conducted in Mainland China and suggests that the ethical leadership construct may also be valid in non-Western cultures.

Ethical leadership has also been found to reduce deviance and unethical behavior (e.g., Mayer et al. 2009). Mayer and colleagues (2012) found significant relationships between ethical leadership and reduced work group conflict and unethical behavior. However, Detert and colleagues (2007) found that ethical leadership in restaurant managers was not related to counterproductive work behavior, measured as actual food loss in their restaurants. The authors speculated that ethical leadership may be less influential in contexts that employ low-level, low-paid workers for whom fair treatment and close supervision (which were significantly related to counterproductive work behavior) may be more important than ethical leadership.

The multilevel nature of ethical leadership has also been considered. Mayer and colleagues (2009) studied the effects of different levels of ethical leadership (executive and supervisory) and showed that top managers' ethical leadership influenced supervisory-level ethical leadership and that the effect on citizenship and deviance flowed through the supervisory-level leader. Both levels of ethical leadership had direct influences on those outcomes. Their mediation hypothesis was supported, suggesting a trickle-down effect of executive ethical leadership.

In a series of studies, Mayer and colleagues (2013) further hypothesized and found that leader influence does not operate in a vacuum but rather interacts with peer influence to affect the reporting of misconduct. Employees are more likely to feel safe reporting misconduct if they believe they have the support of both peers and leaders. These findings suggest that future research should examine how ethical leadership fits within a broader context of peers, leaders, and other potential social influences.

Ethical leaders are not the only leaders who may influence (un)ethical behavior. Transformational leadership (Bass & Avolio 1990) has an ethical component, as do authentic leadership (Avolio & Gardner 2005) and leader behavioral integrity (Bauman 2013, Simons 2002). Negative leadership styles such as abusive supervision (Tepper 2000) are also relevant. Abusive supervision is defined as "subordinates' perception of the extent to which their supervisors engage in the sustained display of hostile verbal and nonverbal behaviors, excluding physical contact" (Tepper 2000, p. 178), and it has long been associated with employee deviance (see Tepper et al. 2007). Recent work has shown that its effects can trickle down from managers to supervisors as well (Mawritz et al. 2012). Hannah and colleagues (2013) connected abusive supervision to increased unethical behavior in a study of military personnel. This study demonstrated that abuse by supervisors increases the likelihood that followers will engage in unethical actions and reduces the likelihood that they will report misconduct. Other types of unethical leadership may also be an

issue (Brown & Mitchell 2010), but reducing abusive supervision seems particularly important for organizations that wish to decrease follower unethical behavior.

## Just and Unjust Treatment by Managers

Just and unjust treatment by managers has been associated with a wide variety of outcomes relevant to behavioral ethics, including prosocial and antisocial or deviant behaviors such as employee theft and other unethical behaviors (e.g., Greenberg 1990, Weaver & Treviño 1999). Although organizational justice is one of the most studied topics in organizational behavior, until fairly recently justice researchers did not explicitly make the connection to behavioral ethics (Cropanzano & Stein 2009). Organizational justice researchers have traditionally treated employee reactions as instrumental and based upon self- or group interest only (Tyler & Blader 2000). Noting that normative foundations of justice (e.g., Rawls 1971) had been largely forgotten in the organizational justice literature, Folger and colleagues (2005) proposed the concept of deontic justice, arguing that people are morally motivated to care about fairness for its own sake and not just for instrumental reasons. The authors noted, for example, that people react retributively to the unfair treatment of others simply because they see it as unfair and not because it harms them or their group. They are even willing to harm their own self-interest in reacting retributively. Accordingly, Rupp & Bell (2010) found that subjects who expressed retributive cognitions against a transgressor who had not behaved fairly in the past were more likely to sacrifice their own resources to punish that transgressor.

Skarlicki & Rupp (2010) brought a dual-processing (Chaiken & Trope 1999) perspective to understanding these reactions. They proposed that reactions might differ depending on the decision-processing frame and that these frames could be primed (decision frames are discussed in more detail below). Experiential processing is less conscious and more automatic, quick, and emotional, whereas rational processing is more conscious and deliberative. The researchers found that subjects primed to use experiential processing (to be open to their feelings and intuitions) were more retributive toward individuals who treated others unfairly than were subjects primed to use rational processing. Further, those high in moral identity (also discussed below) tended to be more retributive regardless of the primes because morality is so important to their identity and self-concept. This research is important for organizations that wish to support ethical conduct via fair treatment. Employees care not just about the fair treatment of themselves and their group, but as observers, when they learn that unrelated others are treated unfairly, they are likely to take retributive action as well.

So, what do we know about interpersonal influences on (un)ethical behavior in organizations? We know that peers and leaders matter a great deal, alone and in combination. Employees are more likely to be unethical in the presence of unethical colleagues, abusive leaders, or unfair treatment, but they are more likely to be ethical when they are led by ethical leaders at multiple levels, feel supported by ethical colleagues, and are fairly treated.

#### INDIVIDUAL DIFFERENCES

Although individual differences are not strictly organizational, we cannot ignore the role of these variables as influencers on (un)ethical behavior in organizations. In this section, we focus on individual differences that have been recently introduced to the literature, with an eye toward highlighting the extent to which they may be important to organizational ethics. Readers interested in other individual differences historically studied in behavioral ethics research (e.g., locus of

control, cognitive moral development) are referred to Kish-Gephart and colleagues' (2010) meta-analytic review.

#### **Moral Attentiveness**

Drawing on social cognitive theory (Bandura 1986), Reynolds (2008) proposed the moral attentiveness construct, or "the extent to which one chronically perceives and considers morality and moral elements in his or her experiences" (p. 1028). Reynolds distinguishes moral attentiveness from moral sensitivity and moral awareness in that the latter two require the existence of a particular moral issue whereas moral attentiveness does not. One's degree of moral attentiveness is believed to color how one perceives and interprets incoming morality-related information. In addition to developing a scale to measure moral attentiveness, Reynolds proposed and found that perceptual moral attentiveness (how information is colored as it is received) was positively related to both the recall and reporting of ethics-related behaviors and to moral awareness. Reynolds also argued that organizations might be able to influence moral attentiveness. For example, he proposed that moral attentiveness may increase with certain types of experiences and, thus, organizations may want to shape ethics initiatives with moral attentiveness in mind.

#### **Moral Conation**

Researchers have traditionally focused much of their attention on moral judgment, leaving open questions about moral motivation. Therefore, some researchers are delving more deeply into the motivational aspect of ethical decision making. In this context, Hannah and colleagues (2011a) developed the moral conation construct, or "the capacity to generate responsibility and motivation to take moral action in the face of adversity and persevere through challenges" (p. 664). Moral conation is theorized to encompass three components—moral courage, moral efficacy, and moral ownership—which are associated with the last two stages of Rest's (1986) model (i.e., moral motivation and moral action).

Research has furthermore argued and shown that the three components of moral conation are related to (un)ethical behavior. Hannah et al. (2011b), for instance, found that moral courage—a malleable character strength that enables one to act on moral principles in the face of danger—is positively related to prosocial and ethical behavior outcomes and that it can be influenced by authentic leadership. When it comes to moral ownership, Hannah and colleagues (2011a) argued that those higher in moral ownership will take more responsibility for their own and others' actions because they are unable to "turn a blind eye" (p. 675) to unethical actions. The ascription of responsibility to the self has long been considered important to ethical decision making (e.g., Schwartz 1968), and recent research reviewed by Dana and colleagues (2012) suggests that increasing one's personal accountability for ethical behavior by decreasing moral "wiggle room" (p. 218) is extraordinarily important. Finally, moral efficacy, or one's belief in one's ability to do what is necessary to take moral action, contributes to self-regulatory processes that support the person doing the right thing even when it is difficult to do so.

Although Hannah and colleagues (2011a) conceptualize moral conation as an individual difference, the authors also argue that moral conation can be developed through social learning, training, ethical role models, and other means. These propositions await future research. In addition, future testing will be required to determine whether moral conation is best treated as three separate constructs or as one overarching one. Finally, it remains unclear to what extent moral conation involves conscious deliberation. Moral ownership invokes responsibility, which would seem to be accompanied by deliberation. But those who are high on moral efficacy may act more

intuitively because they feel they have the expertise to do so. Moral courage may be associated with behavior that looks intuitive and impulsive but may come from deliberation and practice, leading to behavior that is automatized over time.

# **Moral Identity**

Moral identity is rooted in social identity theory (Ashforth & Mael 1989) as well as in the self-regulatory assumptions of social cognitive theory (Bandura 1986). According to Aquino & Reed (2002), moral identity can be defined as "a self-conception organized around a set of moral traits" (p. 1424). They noted that moral identity represents a component of one's social self-schema and complements moral development theory. That is, while cognitive moral development (Kohlberg 1969) relies on sophistication of moral reasoning to explain moral action, moral identity motivates moral action because individuals see certain moral traits as being integral to their self-concept or identity.

Shao and colleagues (2008) reviewed the research on moral identity and reported significant positive relationships with prosocial behaviors such as volunteering and charitable donations and significant negative relationships with unethical behavior such as cheating. The authors also noted that moral identity interacts with contextual variables such that individuals with stronger moral identities are more sensitive to a number of contextual cues such as certain types of leadership behaviors and the organization's culture.

Moral identity, when combined with the individual difference, moral judgment, has also been found to influence people's ethical behavior. In two studies, Reynolds & Ceranic (2007) combined specific types of moral judgment (consequentialism and formalism) with moral identity and found that ethical behavior (charitable giving) and unethical behavior (cheating) are influenced by both, as well as by their interaction.

DeCelles and colleagues (2012) found that a strong moral identity can protect against self-interested behavior in those who have the psychological experience of feeling powerful (via either trait power or manipulated power). The implication is that organizations should consider the moral identity of people they promote to powerful positions because those who have weak moral identities can be expected to engage in more self-serving behavior. For those already in positions of power and who are also high in trait power, organizations should consider interventions that might help them develop their moral identities.

In a conceptual piece, O'Reilly & Aquino (2011) elucidated the role of moral identity in a person's intuitive reactions to injustice. According to their model, the centrality of one's moral identity increases the likelihood that a person will see mistreatment as a moral violation and increases the likelihood that she/he will experience anger and justice cognitions as a result. Furthermore, Aquino and colleagues (2011) found that those who score higher in moral identity experience a state of moral elevation (a warm or pleasant emotional experience) after exposure to others' acts of "uncommon goodness." This feeling of moral elevation mediated the relationship between moral identity and prosocial behaviors. Although conducted in the laboratory, the latter studies have organizational implications. For instance, organization members who observe a leader or coworker engage in particularly helpful behavior may experience moral elevation and be motivated to do the same.

Aquino & Freeman (2012) make the connection to the business context particularly salient. They offer a social-cognitive model of moral identity that conceptualizes moral identity as both an individual difference and a mental construct that can be activated by situational influences ranging from subtle primes to a variety of other business-relevant contextual cues. For example, they propose that financial rewards (which trigger a business frame) may weaken the power of

a strong moral identity, instead making salient a material identity. They also discuss how group norms and role models can support or suppress moral identity. They present evidence for the priming of moral identity (Reed et al. 2007) and for the influence of financial incentives (Aquino et al. 2009), among other research supportive of their ideas.

#### COGNITION AND COGNITIVE PROCESSES

The above discussion involves individual differences that are mostly cognitive in nature. In this section, we move to literature that emphasizes cognitive processes more explicitly. We begin with moral disengagement—a concept that has been treated primarily as an individual difference but is consistent with a broader literature that includes related cognitive processes. We then discuss research that explores the influence of decision frames on cognition and unethical behavior.

## Moral Disengagement

According to Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory, people internalize behavioral standards via socialization, and these standards guide behavior. If the opportunity to engage in unethical behavior arises, the theory proposes that moral standards are activated, and self-regulatory mechanisms (e.g., guilt and self-censure) subsequently prevent the individual from engaging in that behavior. However, this self-regulatory process is not always successful. In an extension of his social cognitive theory, Bandura's (1999) moral disengagement theory suggests that self-regulatory processes can be deactivated by the use of moral disengagement techniques, such as diffusing responsibility, displacing responsibility, blaming the victim, or claiming that the action is warranted because it serves a higher purpose (for a recent review, see Moore et al. 2012). These techniques help to disengage self-regulatory processes, thus preventing self-censure or guilt and rendering the unethical behavior unproblematic for one's conscience. In presenting eight types of cognitive distortion mechanisms, Bandura's theory helps to theoretically unify the rationalization techniques (also referred to as moral justifications or neutralizations) identified by other researchers (e.g., Ashforth & Anand 2003, Kelman & Hamilton 1989, Sykes & Matza 1957, Tenbrunsel & Messick 1999).

Behavioral ethics researchers have drawn upon this work to help explain (un)ethical behavior in the workplace. Studies taking the individual differences approach have shown that an individual's general propensity to morally disengage is related to increased unethical behavior, even after accounting for alternative individual differences (Aquino et al. 2007, Bandura et al. 2001, Detert et al. 2008). Moore and colleagues (2012) developed a reliable eight-item measure of the propensity to morally disengage and found that it is positively associated with unethical behaviors including self-reported unethical behavior, fraud decisions, self-serving decisions, and the reporting of others' unethical behavior. Research has also found relationships between an individual's propensity to morally disengage and other individual traits such as cynicism, locus of control, moral identity, and moral personality (Detert et al. 2008, Duffy et al. 2005).

In addition to conceptualizing moral disengagement as an individual difference, recent research suggests that certain situations may influence the use of justifications and thus the incidence of unethical behavior (Bersoff 1999, Mazar et al. 2008, Shalvi et al. 2012). Much of this research draws on the idea that people desire not only to benefit themselves but also to appear as good and moral people (Kunda 1990, Tsang 2002). As such, unethical behavior is argued to occur more often in situations that provide opportunities to "legitimately" justify unethical behavior (via rationalizations) while maintaining the appearance of being moral. Wiltermuth (2011) referred to this phenomenon as "moral camouflage." Across four laboratory studies, he found that people were more likely to cheat in situations that allowed participants to justify their cheating as helping others

and not just themselves. Although these studies did not directly measure rationalization techniques, participants likely rationalized their behavior by suggesting that their actions also served others, and thus the good helps to offset the bad (i.e., "the metaphor of the ledger," Ashforth & Anand 2003, p. 21). Umphress and colleagues (2010, 2011) similarly argued and found that employees use neutralization techniques to justify unethical behavior that they believe benefits the organization. Lastly, recent work suggests that when primed by a situation to think creatively or to experience positive affect, employees may be more innovative in finding ways to justify self-serving behavior (Gino & Ariely 2012, Vincent et al. 2013).

The empirical research examining the situational use of justifications has been primarily conducted in the laboratory. Nevertheless, some theoretical work suggests a connection between this research and the workplace (e.g., Liu et al. 2012). Beu & Buckley (2004), for instance, argued that savvy leaders are able to induce employee unethical behavior by framing situations to help employees morally disengage. Although empirical research is needed to test Beu & Buckley's arguments, future research should also consider preventive measures for moral disengagement more generally—that is, how can educators or managers influence moral disengagement such that people recognize its occurrence and engage in it less? For example, can individuals be taught to see red flags when they hear certain phrases, such as "It's not our responsibility" or "Everyone else is doing it"?

#### **Decision Frames**

Research is also beginning to demonstrate the powerful influence of decision frames on how individuals think about situations and respond with (un)ethical behavior. A number of studies have explored framing issues similar to those in Kahneman & Tversky's (1979) prospect theory. For example, Kern & Chugh (2009) conducted a direct test of the effects of a loss versus a gain frame on unethical behavior. Their study confirmed that when situations are framed as a potential loss (e.g., not being able to make a sale and lose out on commission), participants are more likely to engage in unethical behavior compared to when that same situation is framed as a gain. Interestingly, though, this effect disappeared if participants were explicitly instructed to take their time. These results suggest again that taking time to make a decision reduces unethical behavior, perhaps because it lessens risk-seeking biases related to loss aversion.

Greenbaum and colleagues (2012) introduced what might be considered another kind of decision frame, referred to as bottom-line mentality (BLM) or "one-dimensional thinking that revolves around securing bottom-line outcomes to the neglect of competing priorities" (p. 344). In some organizations, situations are framed mostly in terms of how decisions and behaviors affect the financial bottom line. Such BLM thinking can be passed on from the supervisor to the subordinate through social learning processes (Bandura 1977) and can cause people to focus solely on the bottom line at the expense of other considerations (such as ethics or quality). In a field study, the authors found that BLM had a positive relationship with social undermining behavior because more BLM thinking invites a win-lose approach and fosters adversarial behavior among employees. What may actually be at the root of the problem are the mental models that are invoked by the idea of money, as Kouchaki and colleagues (2013) showed. In a series of lab studies, Kouchaki and colleagues found that the mere exposure to money triggered a business decision frame, which in turn led to a greater likelihood of unethical behavior and intentions (cf. Gino & Pierce 2009a, described in detail below). Similarly, Molinsky and colleagues (2012) found that triggering economic-oriented decision schema also reduced people's compassion.

The economic frame—argued by many to be *the* frame adopted by most business organizations (Ghoshal 2005)—also influences how people talk about social issues at work. Sonenshein (2006)

advanced the idea of issue crafting, which he described as a tactic that people can use to increase the legitimacy of social issues, thereby influencing the audience to take the issue more seriously. Sonenshein found that individuals use more economic and less normative language when talking about social issues, even when they privately would do the opposite. Other work by Sonenshein (2009) suggests that individuals frame issues in different ways, with potential consequences for behavior. He found that some employees craft strategic business issues as having an ethical component, whereas other employees do not. Those who do craft issues in this way tend to adopt what he calls an employee welfare frame, where they reinterpret the strategic issue as having a deontological (e.g., infringing on a person's rights) or utilitarian (e.g., having negative outcomes) impact. In this way, people's own issue framing can lead them to perceive certain issues as ethical while others do not.

In a recent review of the ethical decision-making literature, Tenbrunsel & Smith-Crowe (2008) offered a model and typology that emphasized the role of cognitive decision frames and their influence on intentionality (or lack thereof). In their model, if decision makers are aware that they are facing an ethical decision (i.e., moral awareness), they make an ethical or unethical decision intentionally. However, if they are unaware, their decision falls into the amoral domain, and their ethical or unethical decision is classified as unintended. The authors use the terms "bounded ethicality" and "ethical fading" to refer to the psychological processes that contribute to the absence of ethical awareness and interfere with people doing what is right in a conscious manner (Tenbrunsel et al. 2010, p. 154). One factor that influences how a decision is framed, and thus one's moral awareness, is time. Tenbrunsel and colleagues (2010) argued that in the short term, the "want" self (hotheaded and focused on immediate outcomes) often prevails over the "should" self. However, when looking back on the unethical action later, the "should" self reemerges and motivates a more positive (ethical) framing of the past behavior. A comprehensive review of this "ethical fading" perspective is available in Bazerman & Tenbrunsel's (2011) book, *Blind Spots*.

Organizations may be manipulating decision frames unintentionally. Yet, research suggests that decision frames can have a powerful impact on behavior. Training managers to be more aware of the decision frames they utilize and impose on others (intentionally or unintentionally) should help to avoid the use of decision frames that lead to unethical behavior and perhaps support framing issues in ways that support ethical behavior.

#### **EMOTIONS AND AFFECTIVE PROCESSES**

Behavioral ethics researchers have also begun to consider the effects of affective processes on unethical behavior. Early work by Damasio (1994) helped jump-start this area of interest through studies of brain regions that regulate emotions in moral decision making and behavior. Gaudine & Thorne (2001) later argued against the prevailing assumption in organizational studies that emotions have no place in a "rational" ethical decision-making process and advanced a theoretical framework that linked emotional arousal and negative or positive feeling states to Rest's (1986) four-stage model (reviewed above). More recently, behavioral ethics researchers have begun to consider discrete emotions, with a particular interest in the social emotion of envy.

Envy is an interpersonal emotion triggered by "social comparisons with advantaged others in domains of personal relevance" (Hill et al. 2011, p. 653). Neuroscience research using functional magnetic resonance imaging technology suggests that envy activates parts of the brain related to social pain, similar to the distress that accompanies social exclusion (Takahashi et al. 2009). This social pain, in turn, motivates people to engage in behavior aimed at alleviating the envious feelings (Tai et al. 2012). One option, for example, is to look for ways to undermine or otherwise humble

the envied other. As Polman & Ruttan (2012) point out, envy motivates a person "to better oneself or to worsen the situation of another" (p. 135).

Empirical research supports the idea that envy motivates unethical behavior, including deception (Moran & Schweitzer 2008) and dishonesty (Gino & Pierce 2009a,b, 2010). Gino & Pierce (2009a), for instance, have conducted multiple studies examining the effects of inequity on triggering episodic envy and subsequent unethical behavior and even demonstrated that the presence of material items (e.g., stacks of money in a room) may influence people's experience of envy and induce cheating behavior as a response.

Focusing on the organization more directly, Duffy and colleagues (2012) examined when and why envy influences social undermining behavior at work. The authors found support for the effect of situational envy, or "a general envy of others in an environment" (Duffy et al. 2012, p. 645), on social undermining via the mediating influence of moral disengagement. However, two variables—identification with the victims (high social identification) and being part of a team that does not tend to engage in undermining (low undermining of group norms)—weakened the relationship between envy and moral disengagement. The authors argued that high identification with teammates likely made it more difficult to dehumanize or displace responsibility onto teammates, and low team norms for undermining made it more difficult to argue that the behavior was for the greater good of the team (moral justification). The results suggest that managers can take steps to minimize the negative implications of envy by fostering an environment with clear ethical norms and close connections with coworkers. Given that workplaces tend to foster social comparisons and are thus potential breeding grounds for envy, future research should examine additional organizational factors that may attenuate the negative effects or harness the positive effects of that emotion.

Although envy has recently received much attention in the literature, comparatively less behavioral ethics research has focused on the effects of other discrete emotions such as shame, anger, or fear (for exceptions, see Gino et al. 2009b, Kish-Gephart et al. 2009, Polman & Ruttan 2012, Umphress & Bingham 2011). We expect the study of the role of affect in ethical decision making to increase, especially for those emotions that might be triggered by common interpersonal situations in the workplace and that have strong implications for organizational ethics. For example, empathy has long been associated with prosocial behavior (see Eisenberg & Miller 1987). If the organization can increase decision makers' empathy for stakeholders who risk being harmed by an action under consideration, the decision may be altered to reduce that risk. Organizations may also wish to support feelings of anger or moral outrage that can move an employee to overcome fear and stop unethical behavior from taking place (Kish-Gephart et al. 2009).

An additional consideration for researchers is how emotions influence moral reasoning or the approach a person uses to solve an ethical dilemma. For example, Greene's (2009) dual-process theory of moral judgment argues that more automatic negative emotional responses are related to deontological-type judgments (e.g., disapproval of a decision to kill one human being to save multiple others), whereas more controlled processes are related to utilitarian-type judgments (approval of the same decision because saving multiple people serves the greater good).

Although the influence of affective processes on unethical behavior may at times appear straightforward, emotions are complex, and their effects are likely to be contingent on the situational context. Guilt, for example, is believed to reduce the incidence of unethical behavior (Agnihotri et al. 2012, Cohen 2010). Yet, individuals who experience guilt can also become so focused on rectifying the guilt that other individuals are unintentionally hurt in the process (De Hooge et al. 2011). Similarly, although empathy may motivate prosocial behavior, research suggests that people may be more willing to help others in a dishonest manner when they experience empathy rather than envy (Gino & Pierce 2009b, 2010). Such findings suggest that much remains to be

learned about the complex effects of emotions and even more about what these effects mean for (un)ethical behavior in organizations.

#### EGO DEPLETION AND SELF-REGULATION PROCESSES

In the preceding sections, we described research that demonstrates how certain cognitive and affective processes influence (un)ethical behavior. A related topic involves understanding how cognitive self-regulation processes—the cognitive processes that prevent people from engaging in unethical behavior when the opportunity arises—break down when people experience a deficit in self-control. Self-control can be defined as "the capacity to alter or override dominant response tendencies, and to regulate behavior, thoughts, and emotions" (De Ridder et al. 2012, p. 77). Individuals use self-control to resist unwanted behaviors, such as stealing office supplies or using unprofessional language to respond to an abusive supervisor. But ego depletion theory (Baumeister & Heatherton 1996) suggests that self-control is a finite resource that can be depleted in the short term, like a muscle can be fatigued. Linking this theory to unethical behavior, Gino and colleagues (2011) found that when a person's self-control was depleted by a prior act that required self-control, the likelihood of unethical behavior increased. However, in support of an interactionist view of unethical behavior, this was less true for those with a stronger moral identity. Relying on similar theoretical arguments, Barnes and colleagues (2011) found that lack of sleep was associated with unethical behavior in three studies. Moreover, Christian & Ellis (2011) found that sleep deprivation was associated with theft and interpersonal deviance.

Understanding that those whose self-regulatory resources are depleted are more likely to engage in unethical behavior has significant organizational implications. Christian & Ellis (2011) recommend potential organizational responses. For example, managers should call attention to ethical issues, remove temptations (if possible), develop less stressful work climates, provide opportunities for naps, help employees to develop their self-control resources, reduce demands that would interfere with sleep (e.g., extended shifts), and monitor those who may be depleted. Hopefully, by understanding that the depletion of self-control resources leads to unethical behavior, concerned managers can take action to reduce it.

#### **FUTURE RESEARCH**

This review documents the thriving research interest in the behavioral ethics domain. In this section, we discuss some additional thoughts about where the field is and should be going in terms of future research, including topics, opportunities for theory development, and the use of different methodologies.

#### **Topics for Future Research**

Despite the buzz of research activity, a number of noteworthy topics have received little attention. Here, we note a few that have not yet been mentioned in our review. For example, the role of new work arrangements should be considered because work is increasingly being accomplished across wide distances and through technological interfaces (e.g., email, Web applications, instant messaging, video conferencing). In today's distributed organizations, teams are often dispersed across different locations, including in homes or in offices in different cities or countries. These work arrangements are likely to present organizations with unique ethics management challenges. Recent research already suggests that people are more willing to lie when communicating through email versus when communicating through pen and paper (Naquin et al. 2010). And the importance of observers and witnesses (even in the form of out-group members) as highlighted in previous parts

of this review, suggests that the absence of physical observers when working through a technological interface or from home may further increase the likelihood of unethical behavior. Because monitoring is more challenging when people are working remotely, these new work arrangements may also increase people's opportunity to engage in unethical behavior. Furthermore, they may change the way employees think about ethical issues. For example, working remotely and virtually may mute potential harm to stakeholders, thus lessening the moral intensity or lessening the opportunity for ethical dialogue.

In a related vein, little research attention has been given to group-level ethical decision making or behavior despite the fact that many decisions in organizations are made in a group context, and most work involves groups. It seems reasonable to expect that unethical behavior will be higher in groups because of moral disengagement (e.g., diffusion of responsibility) or that certain members of groups may have more or less influence on (un)ethical decisions.

The potential effect of structural features of organizations has also been neglected, specifically those features that are either explicitly designed to improve employees' ethical behavior or that may contribute to unethical behavior. For example, aside from conceptual work (Hoffman 2010), we know little about ethics and compliance officers in organizations, such as how they do their work and what makes them and their work effective or ineffective. This seems important given their role in managing ethics programs and ethical climates and cultures, and encouraging ethical and discouraging unethical behavior in organizations.

The role of authority structures and systems also remains underexplored. For example, indirect agency involves perpetrating unethical behavior through someone else, such as when a manager suggests that a subordinate accomplish a task by unethical means. Although indirect agency has been associated with unethical behavior in the past (Milgram 1974, Paharia et al. 2009), future research should extend beyond the idea of authority dynamics to better understand the scope, mechanisms, triggers, and outcomes of indirect agency in organizations.

# **Continuing Theory Development**

In conducting this review, we noted the many references to various aspects of Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory. This work has guided multiple areas of study, from moral attentiveness, to moral conation, to moral disengagement, to moral identity, to ethical leadership, and to abusive supervision (via social learning). Therefore, it seems important to acknowledge the theory's continuing relevance in many areas of study of (un)ethical behavior in organizations. Social cognitive theory is a broad theory that can accommodate a variety of different approaches to the study of behavioral ethics in organizations. The theory allows for the study of successful self-regulation but also the study of failures to self-regulate (i.e., moral disengagement). More thought should be given to social cognitive theory as a potential umbrella theory that can explain multiple relevant ethical and unethical outcomes. But, because social cognitive theory assumes forethought and takes a distinctly cognitive view, future research should consider how to supplement social cognitive theory with theories that better account for the less conscious intuitive and affective processes that are so important, especially theories that can do so in the context of complex organizational life.

Although much progress has been made in expanding our understanding of the deliberative and intuitive characteristics of ethical decision making, more empirical and theoretical research is necessary to sort out the processes and outcomes. For example, future research is needed to understand when ethical decision making in organizations is more intuitive versus more deliberative and when one may be more desirable over the other. As described above, Gunia and colleagues (2012) found that, compared to making quick choices, giving individuals the opportunity to engage in contemplation or to have a conversation with an ethical colleague influences them to make

decisions that are more ethical. In contrast, Zhong (2011) found that contemplation reduced people's ethical behavior compared to decisions that were based on feeling or intuition. In his study, deliberative decision making increased unethical behaviors and reduced altruistic motives. Future research needs to offer theory that can help to resolve the apparent contradiction in these studies.

## **Methodological Issues**

Researchers are utilizing a variety of methodologies to conduct behavioral ethics research, with survey and, more recently, laboratory research predominating. Laboratory experiments can help us to understand psychological processes and mechanisms because of the high amounts of control afforded to the researcher. Therefore, it makes sense that this methodology is being used to help understand the role of cognition and affect in ethical decision making and behavior. New perspectives have been gained through the use of functional magnetic resonance imaging technology that allows researchers to observe the effects of various influences on the brain during the ethical decision-making process. We refer readers to a review by Salvador & Folger (2009) for more on this approach and its findings. However, given our "in organizations" perspective, we wish to emphasize that the realities of working inside an organization are difficult to capture with the aforementioned methodologies. For example, replicating authority relations, group dynamics, or the role of identification with and commitment to the organization is challenging in experimental settings. Therefore, we encourage researchers to extend the results of laboratory research to field methodologies to insure generalizability of the findings to complex organizational environments.

Given the prominence of research related to intuitive and automatic processes, it is important to note the recent use of subtle priming studies and the Implicit Association Test (IAT). In one example, Reynolds and colleagues (2010) developed an implicit measure of "an individual's assumption that business is inherently moral" (p. 753). The study showed that people's implicit assumptions about the morality of business influenced their unethical decisions (beyond explicit attitudes) and interacted with subtle contextual cues (about competition) to influence behavior. Another recent study using the IAT suggests that occupational identities may have moral implications. Leavitt and colleagues (2012) discuss "situated identities" that are associated with one's occupation (in this case, Army medics). The authors demonstrated that occupational identities can be primed with subtle cues and that these identities subsequently predict ethical judgments. Overall, the IAT seems to be a promising methodology for studying the less conscious side of ethical decision making. Readers interested in such methods more generally should consult a recent review by Uhlmann and colleagues (2012).

A limitation related to both traditional experiments and survey research is that, by design, they test models that have been theorized and conceptualized up front. Qualitative research has the potential to address this limitation (Lee 1999), especially in areas of organizational ethics that are currently poorly understood. For example, recent work by Gehman and colleagues (2013) used grounded theory methods to advance the idea of "values work," a process that underscores the challenge of bringing values practices to life in organizations and sustaining them over time. Potential future research areas include investigating the complexities of managing ethical climates, cultures, and infrastructures in organizations; understanding the ways in which organization members respond to ethics initiatives; and learning how messages about ethics are passed upward, downward, and around the organization.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The blossoming research on (un)ethical behavior in organizations is welcome and much needed given contemporary events. We hope the research reviewed here will help inspire future

investigations that expand our understanding of and ability to encourage ethical behavior as well as prevent unethical behavior in the workplace.

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### LITERATURE CITED

Agnihotri R, Rapp A, Kothandaraman P, Singh RK. 2012. An emotion-based model of salesperson ethical behaviors. J. Bus. Ethics 109:243–57

Aquino K, Freeman D. 2012. Moral identity in business situations: a social-cognitive framework for understanding moral functioning. In *Moral Personality*, *Identity*, *and Character*, ed. D Narvaez, DK Lapsley, pp. 375–95. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press

Aquino K, Freeman D, Reed A, Lim VK, Felps W. 2009. Testing a social-cognitive model of moral behavior: the interactive influence of situations and moral identity centrality. *7. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 97:123–41

Aquino K, McFerran B, Laven M. 2011. Moral identity and the experience of moral elevation in response to acts of uncommon goodness. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 100:703–18

Aquino K, Reed A. 2002. The self-importance of moral identity. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 83:1423–40 Aquino K, Reed A, Thau S, Freeman D. 2007. A grotesque and dark beauty: how moral identity and mechanisms of moral disengagement influence cognitive and emotional reactions to war. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 43:385–92

Arnaud A, Schminke M. 2012. The ethical climate and context of organizations: a comprehensive model. Organ. Sci. 23:1767–80

Ashforth BE, Anand V. 2003. The normalization of corruption in organizations. Res. Organ. Behav. 25:1–52

Ashforth BE, Mael F. 1989. Social identity theory and the organization. Acad. Manag. Rev. 14:20–39

Avey J, Palanski M, Walumbwa F. 2011. When leadership goes unnoticed: the moderating role of follower self-esteem on the relationship between ethical leadership and follower behavior. *J. Bus. Ethics* 98:573–82

Avolio BJ, Gardner WL. 2005. Authentic leadership development: getting to the root of positive forms of leadership. Leadersh. Q. 16:315–38

Bandura A. 1977. Social Learning Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall

Bandura A. 1986. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall

Bandura A. 1997. Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. New York: Freeman

Bandura A. 1999. Moral disengagement in the perpetuation of inhumanities. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 3:193–209

Bandura A, Caprara GV, Barbaranelli C, Pastorelli C, Regalia C. 2001. Sociocognitive self-regulatory mechanisms governing transgressive behavior. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 80:125–35

Barnes CM, Schaubroeck J, Huth M, Ghumman S. 2011. Lack of sleep and unethical conduct. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 115:169–80

Bass BM, Avolio BJ. 1990. Developing transformational leadership: 1992 and beyond. *J. Eur. Ind. Train.* 14:21–27

Bauman C. 2013. Leadership and the three faces of integrity. *Leadersh. Q.* 24:414–26

Baumeister RF, Heatherton TF. 1996. Self-regulation failure: an overview. Psychol. Ing. 7:1-15

Bazerman MH, Tenbrunsel AE. 2011. Blind Spots: Why We Fail To Do What's Right and What To Do About It. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press

Bersoff DM. 1999. Why good people sometimes do bad things: motivated reasoning and unethical behavior. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 25:28–39

Beu DS, Buckley MR. 2004. This is war: how the politically astute achieve crimes of obedience through the use of moral disengagement. *Leadersh. Q.* 15:551–68

Develops a measure and conducts validity tests on the self-importance of moral identity.

One of the first attempts to explain how corruption can become normal and spread within organizations. Introduces a widely used measure of ethical leadership and establishes its validity.

Examines the effects of situational envy on moral disengagement and social undermining at work.

Shows that unethical behavior depends on the norms implied by others' behavior, not on cost-benefit analyses. Brown ME, Mitchell MS. 2010. Ethical and unethical leadership: exploring new avenues for future research. Bus. Ethics Q. 20:583–616

Brown ME, Treviño LK. 2006. Ethical leadership: a review and future directions. Leadersh. Q. 17:595-616

Brown ME, Treviño LK, Harrison DA. 2005. Ethical leadership: a social learning perspective for construct development and testing. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 97:117–34

Chaiken S, Trope Y. 1999. Dual-Process Theories in Social Psychology. New York: Guilford

Christian MS, Ellis APJ. 2011. Examining the effects of sleep deprivation on workplace deviance: a self-regulatory perspective. Acad. Manag. J. 54:913–34

Cohen TR. 2010. Moral emotions and unethical bargaining: the differential effects of empathy and perspective taking in deterring deceitful negotiation. 7. Bus. Ethics 94:569–79

Cropanzano R, Stein JH. 2009. Organizational justice and behavioral ethics: promises and prospects. Bus. Ethics Q. 19:193–233

Damasio A. 1994. Descartes' Error: Emotion, Reason, and the Human Brain. New York: Putnam

Dana J, Loewenstein G, Weber R. 2012. Ethical immunity: how people violate their own moral standards without feeling they are doing so. In *Behavioral Business Ethics: Shaping an Emerging Field*, ed. D DeCremer, AE Tenbrunsel, pp. 201–19. New York: Routledge

DeCelles KA, DeRue DS, Margolis JD, Ceranic TL. 2012. Does power corrupt or enable? When and why power facilitates self-interested behavior. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 97:681–89

De Hooge IE, Nelissen RM, Breugelmans SM, Zeelenberg M. 2011. What is moral about guilt? Acting "prosocially" at the disadvantage of others. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 100:462–73

De Ridder DT, Lensvelt-Mulders G, Finkenauer C, Stok FM, Baumeister RF. 2012. Taking stock of self-control: a meta-analysis of how trait self-control relates to a wide range of behaviors. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 16:76–99

Detert JR, Treviño LK, Burris ER, Andiappan M. 2007. Managerial modes of influence and counterproductivity in organizations: a longitudinal business-unit-level investigation. 7. Appl. Psychol. 92:993–1005

Detert JR, Treviño LK, Sweitzer VL. 2008. Moral disengagement in ethical decision making: a study of antecedents and outcomes. J. Appl. Psychol. 93:374–91

Duffy MK, Aquino K, Tepper BJ, Reed A, O'Leary-Kelly AM. 2005. Moral disengagement and social identification: When does being similar result in harm doing? Presented at annu. meet. Acad. Manag., Honolulu, Hawaii

Duffy MK, Scott KL, Shaw JD, Tepper BJ, Aquino K. 2012. A social context model of envy and social undermining. *Acad. Manag.* 7. 55:643–66

Eisenberg N, Miller PA. 1987. The regulation of empathy to pro-social and related behaviors. *Psychol. Bull.* 101:91–119

Ethics Resour. Cent. 2012. 2011 National Business Ethics Survey: Workplace Ethics in Transition. Arlington, VA: Ethics Resour. Cent.

Folger R, Cropanzano R, Goldman B. 2005. What is the relationship between justice and morality? In *Handbook of Organizational Justice*, ed. J Greenberg, JA Colquitt, pp. 215–45. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum

Gaudine A, Thorne L. 2001. Emotion and ethical decision-making in organizations. J. Bus. Ethics 31:175–87
Gehman J, Treviño LK, Garud R. 2013. Values work: a process study of the emergence and performance of organizational values practices. Acad. Manag. J. 56:84–112

Gentile M. 2010. Giving Voice to Values: How to Speak Your Mind When You Know What's Right. New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Press

Ghoshal S. 2005. Bad management theories are destroying good management practices. Acad. Manag. Learn. Educ. 4:75–91

Gino F, Ariely D. 2012. The dark side of creativity: Original thinkers can be more dishonest. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 102:445–59

Gino F, Ayal S, Ariely D. 2009a. Contagion and differentiation in unethical behavior: the effect of one bad apple on the barrel. Psychol. Sci. 20:393–98

Gino F, Galinsky AD. 2012. Vicarious dishonesty: when psychological closeness creates distance from one's moral compass. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 119:15–26

Gino F, Gu J, Zhong CB. 2009b. Contagion or restitution? When bad apples can motivate ethical behavior. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 45:1299–302

- Gino F, Pierce L. 2009a. The abundance effect: unethical behavior in the presence of wealth. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 109:142–55
- Gino F, Pierce L. 2009b. Dishonesty in the name of equity. Psychol. Sci. 20:1153-60
- Gino F, Pierce L. 2010. Robin Hood under the hood: wealth-based discrimination in illicit customer help. Organ. Sci. 21:1176–94
- Gino F, Schweitzer ME, Mead NL, Ariely D. 2011. Unable to resist temptation: how self-control depletion promotes unethical behavior. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 115:191–203
- Greenbaum RL, Mawritz MB, Eissa G. 2012. Bottom-line mentality as an antecedent of social undermining and the moderating roles of core self-evaluations and conscientiousness. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 97:343–59
- Greenberg J. 1990. Employee theft as a reaction to underpayment inequity—the hidden cost of pay cuts. J. Appl. Psychol. 75:561–68
- Greene JD. 2009. Dual-process morality and the personal/impersonal distinction: a reply to McGuire, Langdon, Coltheart, and Mackenzie. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 45:581–84
- Gunia BC, Wang L, Huang L, Wang JW, Murnighan JK. 2012. Contemplation and conversation: subtle influences on moral decision making. *Acad. Manag. J.* 55:13–33
- Haidt J. 2001. The emotional dog and its rational tail: a social intuitionist approach to moral judgment. Psychol. Rev. 108:814–34
- Hannah S, Schaubroeck J, Peng C, Lord R, Treviño LK, et al. 2013. Joint influences of individual and work unit abusive supervision on ethical intentions and behaviors: a moderated mediation model. J. Appl. Psychol. 98:579–92
- Hannah ST, Avolio BJ, May DR. 2011a. Moral maturation and moral conation: a capacity approach to explaining moral thought and action. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 36:663–85
- Hannah ST, Avolio BJ, Walumbwa FO. 2011b. Relationships between authentic leadership, moral courage, and ethical and pro-social behaviors. Bus. Ethics Q. 21:555–78
- Hill SE, DelPriore DJ, Vaughan PW. 2011. The cognitive consequences of envy: attention, memory and self-regulatory depletion. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 101:653–66
- Hoffman WM. 2010. Repositioning the corporate ethics officer. Bus. Ethics Q. 20:744-45
- Jordan J, Brown ME, Treviño LK, Finkelstein S. 2011. Someone to look up to: executive-follower ethical reasoning and perceptions of ethical leadership. J. Manag. 39:660–83
- Kacmar KM, Bachrach DG, Harris KJ, Zivnuska S. 2011. Fostering good citizenship through ethical leadership: exploring the moderating role of gender and organizational politics. J. Appl. Psychol. 96:633–42
- Kahneman D, Tversky A. 1979. Prospect theory: analysis of decision under risk. Econometrica 47:263–91
- Kalshoven K, Den Hartog DN, De Hoogh AHB. 2011. Ethical leader behavior and big five factors of personality. J. Bus. Ethics 100:349–66
- Kelman HC, Hamilton VL. 1989. Crimes of Obedience. New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Press
- Kern MC, Chugh D. 2009. Bounded ethicality: the perils of loss framing. Psychol. Sci. 20:378–84
- Kim WG, Brymer RA. 2011. The effects of ethical leadership on manager job satisfaction, commitment, behavioral outcomes, and firm performance. *Int. J. Hospitality Manag.* 30:1020–26
- Kish-Gephart JJ, Detert JR, Treviño LK, Edmondson AC. 2009. Silenced by fear: the nature, sources, and consequences of fear at work. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 29:163–93
- Kish-Gephart JJ, Harrison DA, Treviño LK. 2010. Bad apples, bad cases, and bad barrels: metaanalytic evidence about sources of unethical decisions at work. J. Appl. Psychol. 95:1-31
- Kohlberg L. 1969. Stage and sequence: the cognitive developmental approach to socialization. In Handbook of Socialization Theory and Research, ed. DA Goslin, pp. 347–480. Chicago: Rand McNally
- Kouchaki M, Smith-Crowe K, Brief AP, Sousa C. 2013. Seeing green: Mere exposure to money triggers a business decision frame and unethical outcomes. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process* 121:53–61
- Kunda Z. 1990. The case for motivated reasoning. Psychol. Bull. 108:480-98
- Latham GP, Locke EA. 2006. Enhancing the benefits and overcoming the pitfalls of goal setting. *Organ. Dyn.* 35:332–40
- Leavitt K, Reynolds SJ, Barnes CM, Schilpzand P, Hannah ST. 2012. Different hats, different obligations: plural occupational identities and situated moral judgments. *Acad. Manag. J.* 55:1316–33

Introduces the social intuitionist model of moral judgment as an alternative to a rationalist model.

Provides a meta-analytic review of prominent individual-, situational-, and organizational-level variables in the field. Lee TW. 1999. Using Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

- Liu Y, Lam LWR, Loi R. 2012. Ethical leadership and workplace deviance: the role of moral disengagement. Adv. Glob. Leadersb. 7:37–56
- Locke EA, Latham GP. 2009. Has goal setting gone wild, or have its attackers abandoned good scholarship? Acad. Manag. Perspect. 23:17–23
- Martin KD, Cullen JB. 2006. Continuities and extensions of ethical climate theory: a meta-analytic review. 7. Bus. Ethics 69:175–94
- Mawritz MB, Mayer DM, Hoobler JM, Wayne SJ, Marinova SV. 2012. A trickle-down model of abusive supervision. *Pers. Psychol.* 65:325–57
- Mayer DM, Aquino K, Greenbaum RL, Kuenzi M. 2012. Who displays ethical leadership, and why does it matter? An examination of antecedents and consequences of ethical leadership. *Acad. Manag.* 7, 55:151–71
- Mayer DM, Kuenzi M, Greenbaum R, Bardes M, Salvador R. 2009. How low does ethical leadership flow? Test of a trickle-down model. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 108:1–13
- Mayer DM, Nurmohamed S, Treviño LK, Shapiro DL, Schminke M. 2013. Encouraging employees to report unethical conduct internally: it takes a village. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 121:89–103
- Mazar N, Amir O, Ariely D. 2008. The dishonesty of honest people: a theory of self-concept maintenance. 7. Market. Res. 45:633–44
- Mesmer-Magnus JR, Viswesvaran C. 2005. Whistleblowing in organizations: an examination of correlates of whistleblowing intentions, actions, and retaliation. J. Bus. Ethics 62:277–97
- Milgram S. 1974. Obedience to Authority: An Experimental View. New York: Harper & Row
- Molinsky AL, Grant AM, Margolis JD. 2012. The bedside manner of *homo economicus*: how and why priming an economic schema reduces compassion. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 119:27–37
- Moore C, Detert JR, Treviño LK, Baker VL, Mayer DM. 2012. Why employees do bad things: moral disengagement and unethical organizational behavior. *Pers. Psychol.* 65:1–48
- Moore C, Gino F. 2013. Ethically adrift: how others pull our moral compass from true north and how we can fix it. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 33:In press
- Moran S, Schweitzer ME. 2008. When better is worse: envy and the use of deception. *Negot. Confl. Manag. Res.* 1:3–29
- Naquin CE, Kurtzberg TR, Belkin LY. 2010. The finer points of lying online: e-mail versus pen and paper. J. Appl. Psychol. 95:387–94
- Neubert MJ, Carlson DS, Kacmar KM, Roberts JA, Chonko LB. 2009. The virtuous influence of ethical leadership behavior: evidence from the field. *J. Bus. Ethics* 90:157–70
- O'Fallon MJ, Butterfield KD. 2005. A review of the empirical ethical decision-making literature: 1996–2003. 7. Bus. Ethics 59:375–413
- Ordóñez LD, Schweitzer ME, Galinsky AD, Bazerman MH. 2009a. Goals gone wild: the systematic side effects of overprescribing goal setting. *Acad. Manag. Perspect.* 23:6–16
- Ordóñez LD, Schweitzer ME, Galinsky AD, Bazerman MH. 2009b. On good scholarship, goal setting, and scholars gone wild. *Acad. Manag. Perspect.* 23:82–87
- O'Reilly J, Aquino K. 2011. A model of third parties' morally motivated responses to mistreatment in organizations. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 36:526–43
- Paharia N, Kassam KS, Greene JD, Bazerman MH. 2009. Dirty work, clean hands: the moral psychology of indirect agency. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 109:134–41
- Piccolo RF, Greenbaum R, Den Hartog DN, Folger R. 2010. The relationship between ethical leadership and core job characteristics. *7. Organ. Behav.* 31:259–78
- Pierce L, Snyder J. 2008. Ethical spillovers in firms: evidence from vehicle emissions testing. *Manag. Sci.* 54:1891–903
- Pitesa M, Thau S. 2013. Compliant sinners, obstinate saints: how power and self-focus determine the effectiveness of social influences in ethical decision making. *Acad. Manag.* 7, 56:635–58
- Polman E, Ruttan RL. 2012. Effects of anger, guilt and envy on moral hypocrisy. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 38:129–39
- Rawls J. 1971. A Theory of Justice. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press

Develops an eight-item measure of moral disengagement and demonstrates its predictive validity in multiple studies.

- Reed A, Aquino K, Levy E. 2007. Moral identity and judgments of charitable behaviors. J. Mark. 71:178–93 Rest JR. 1986. Moral Development: Advances in Research and Theory. New York: Praeger
- Reynolds SJ. 2006. A neurocognitive model of the ethical decision-making process: implications for study and practice. 7. Appl. Psychol. 91:737–48
- Reynolds SJ. 2008. Moral attentiveness: Who pays attention to the moral aspects of life? J. Appl. Psychol. 93:1027–41
- Reynolds SJ, Ceranic TL. 2007. The effects of moral judgment and moral identity on moral behavior: an empirical examination of the moral individual. J. Appl. Psychol. 92:1610–24
- Reynolds SJ, Leavitt K, DeCelles KA. 2010. Automatic ethics: the effects of implicit assumptions and contextual cues on moral behavior. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 95:752–60
- Robinson SL, O'Leary-Kelly AM. 1998. Monkey see, monkey do: the influence of work groups on the antisocial behavior of employees. Acad. Manag. J. 41:658–72
- Ruiz P, Ruiz C, Martinez R. 2011. Improving the "leader-follower" relationship: top manager or supervisor? The ethical leadership trickle-down effect on follower job response. *J. Bus. Ethics* 99:587–608
- Rupp DE, Bell CM. 2010. Extending the deontic model of justice: moral self-regulation in third-party responses to injustice. Bus. Ethics Q. 20:89–106
- Salvador R, Folger RG. 2009. Business ethics and the brain. Bus. Ethics Q. 19:1-31
- Schaubroeck JM, Hannah ST, Avolio BJ, Kozlowski SWJ, Lord RG, et al. 2012. Embedding ethical leadership within and across organization levels. *Acad. Manag. J.* 55:1053–78
- Schminke M, Ambrose ML, Neubaum DO. 2005. The effect of leader moral development on ethical climate and employee attitudes. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 97:135–51
- Schwartz SH. 1968. Words, deeds and perception of consequences and responsibility in action situations. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 10:232–42
- Schweitzer ME, Ordonez L, Douma B. 2004. Goal setting as a motivator of unethical behavior. *Acad. Manag. J.* 47:422–32
- Shalvi S, Eldar O, Bereby-Meyer Y. 2012. Honesty requires time (and lack of justifications). Psychol. Sci. 23:1264–70
- Shao RD, Aquino K, Freeman D. 2008. Beyond moral reasoning: a review of moral identity research and its implications for business ethics. Bus. Ethics Q. 18:513–40
- Shu LL, Mazar N, Gino F, Ariely D, Bazerman MH. 2012. Signing at the beginning makes ethics salient and decreases dishonest self-reports in comparison to signing at the end. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109:15197–200
- Simha A, Cullen JB. 2012. Ethical climates and their effects on organizational outcomes: implications from the past and prophecies for the future. Acad. Manag. Perspect. 26:20–34
- Simons T. 2002. Behavioral integrity: the perceived alignment between managers' words and deeds as a research focus. *Organ. Sci.* 13:18–35
- Skarlicki DP, Rupp DE. 2010. Dual processing and organizational justice: the role of rational versus experiential processing in third-party reactions to workplace mistreatment. J. Appl. Psychol. 95:944–52
- Sonenshein S. 2006. Crafting social issues at work. Acad. Manag. 7. 49:1158–72
- Sonenshein S. 2007. The role of construction, intuition, and justification in responding to ethical issues at work: the sensemaking-intuition model. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 32:1022–40
- Sonenshein S. 2009. Emergence of ethical issues during strategic change implementation. *Organ. Sci.* 20:223–39
- Sykes GM, Matza D. 1957. Techniques of neutralization: a theory of delinquency. Am. Sociol. Rev. 22:664–70
  Tai K, Narayanan J, McAllister D. 2012. Envy as pain: rethinking the nature of envy and its implications for employees and organizations. Acad. Manag. Rev. 37:107–29
- Takahashi H, Kato M, Matsuura M, Mobbs D, Suhara T, Okubo Y. 2009. When your gain is my pain and your pain is my gain: neutral correlates of envy and schadenfreude. *Science* 323:938–39
- Tanner C, Brugger A, Van Schie S, Lebherz C. 2010. Actions speak louder than words: the benefits of ethical behaviors of leaders. Z. Psychol. 7. Psychol. 218:225–33
- Tenbrunsel AE, Diekmann KA, Wade-Benzoni KA, Bazerman MH. 2010. The ethical mirage: a temporal explanation as to why we are not as ethical as we think we are. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 30:153–73

Uses knowledge of brain functioning to understand ethical decisions as less deliberate and reasoned.

Combines social psychological and organizational literature to advance a model of intuitive ethical decision making.

- Tenbrunsel AE, Messick DM. 1999. Sanctioning systems, decision frames, and cooperation. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 44:684–707
- Tenbrunsel AE, Smith-Crowe K. 2008. Ethical decision making: where we've been and where we're going. Acad. Manag. Ann. 2:545–607
- Tepper BJ. 2000. Consequences of abusive supervision. Acad. Manag. J. 43:178–90
- Tepper BJ, Moss SE, Lockhart DE, Carr JC. 2007. Abusive supervision, upward maintenance communication, and subordinates' psychological distress. Acad. Manag. J. 50:1169–80
- Treviño LK. 1986. Ethical decision making in organizations: a person-situation interactionist model. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 11:601–17
- Treviño LK. 1990. A cultural perspective on changing and developing organizational ethics. In *Research on Organizational Change and Development*, ed. RW Passmore, pp. 195–230. Greenwich, CT: JAI
- Treviño LK, Weaver GR, Reynolds SJ. 2006. Behavioral ethics in organizations: a review. *J. Manag.* 32:951–90 Tsang J. 2002. Moral rationalization and the integration of situational factors and psychological processes in immoral behavior. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 6:25–50
- Tyler T, Blader SL. 2000. Cooperation in Group: Procedural Justice, Social Identity, and Behavioral Engagement. Philadelphia, PA: Psychol. Press
- Uhlmann EL, Leavitt K, Menges JL, Koopman J, Howe MD, Johnson RE. 2012. Getting explicit about the implicit: a taxonomy of implicit measures and guide for their use in organizational research. Organ. Res. Methods 15:553–601
- Umphress EE, Bingham JB. 2011. When employees do bad things for good reasons: examining unethical pro-organizational behaviors. Organ. Sci. 22:621–40
- Umphress EE, Bingham JB, Mitchell MS. 2010. Unethical behavior in the name of the company: the moderating effect of organizational identification and positive reciprocity beliefs on unethical pro-organizational behavior. 7. Appl. Psychol. 95:769–80
- Victor B, Cullen JB. 1988. The organizational bases of ethical work climates. Adm. Sci. Q. 33:101-25
- Vincent LC, Emich KJ, Goncalo JA. 2013. Stretching the moral gray zone: positive affect, moral disengagement, and dishonesty. Psychol. Sci. 24:595–99
- Walumbwa FO, Mayer DM, Wang P, Wang H, Workman K, Christensen AL. 2011. Linking ethical leadership to employee performance: the roles of leader-member exchange, self-efficacy, and organizational identification. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 115:204–13
- Walumbwa FO, Schaubroeck J. 2009. Leader personality traits and employee voice behavior: mediating roles of ethical leadership and work group psychological safety. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 94:1275–86
- Weaver GR, Reynolds SJ, Brown ME. 2013. Moral intuition: connecting current knowledge to future research and organizational practice. Work. Pap., Dep. Bus. Admin., Univ. Del., Newark
- Weaver GR, Treviño LK. 1999. Compliance and values oriented ethics programs: influences on employees' attitudes and behavior. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 9:315–35
- Wiltermuth SS. 2011. Cheating more when the spoils are split. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 115:157–68 Zhong C. 2011. The ethical dangers of deliberative decision making. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 56:1–25



# Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 64, 2013

# Contents

Prefatory
Shifting Gears: Seeking New Approaches for Mind/Brain Mechanisms  Michael S. Gazzaniga
Biological Bases of Behavior
The Endocannabinoid System and the Brain  *Raphael Mechoulam and Linda A. Parker
Vision
Synesthesia  Jamie Ward  49
Scene Perception, Event Perception, Object Recognition
Visual Aesthetics and Human Preference Stephen E. Palmer, Karen B. Schloss, and Jonathan Sammartino
Attention and Performance
Detecting Consciousness: A Unique Role for Neuroimaging  Adrian M. Owen
Executive Functions  Adele Diamond 135
Animal Learning and Behavior
The Neuroscience of Learning: Beyond the Hebbian Synapse  C.R. Gallistel and Louis D. Matzel
Evolutionary Psychology
Evolutionary Psychology: New Perspectives on Cognition and Motivation  Leda Cosmides and John Tooby
Origins of Human Cooperation and Morality  Michael Tomasello and Amrisha Vaish 23

Language and Communication
Gesture's Role in Speaking, Learning, and Creating Language  Susan Goldin-Meadow and Martha Wagner Alibali
Nonverbal and Verbal Communication
The Antecedents and Consequences of Human Behavioral Mimicry  Tanya L. Chartrand and Jessica L. Lakin
Intergroup Relations, Stigma, Stereotyping, Prejudice, Discrimination
Sexual Prejudice  Gregory M. Herek and Kevin A. McLemore
Social Neuroscience
A Cultural Neuroscience Approach to the Biosocial Nature of the Human Brain  Shihui Han, Georg Northoff, Kai Vogeley, Bruce E. Wexler,  Shinobu Kitayama, and Michael E.W. Varnum
Organizational Climate/Culture
Organizational Climate and Culture  Benjamin Schneider, Mark G. Ehrhart, and William H. Macey
Industrial Psychology/Human Resource Management
Employee Recruitment  **James A. Breaugh**  389
Learning and Performance in Educational Settings
Self-Regulated Learning: Beliefs, Techniques, and Illusions  *Robert A. Bjork, John Dunlosky, and Nate Kornell**  417
Teaching of Subject Matter
Student Learning: What Has Instruction Got to Do With It?  Hee Seung Lee and John R. Anderson 445
Health Psychology
Bringing the Laboratory and Clinic to the Community: Mobile Technologies for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention  Robert M. Kaplan and Arthur A. Stone
Research Methodology
Multivariate Statistical Analyses for Neuroimaging Data Anthony R. McIntosh and Bratislav Mišić

Social Network Analysis: Foundations and Frontiers on Advantage  *Ronald S. Burt, Martin Kilduff, and Stefano Tasselli	7
Indexes	
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 54–64	.9
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 54–64	4
Errata	

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Psychology* articles may be found at http://psych.AnnualReviews.org/errata.shtml

It's about time. Your time. It's time well spent.

# **New From Annual Reviews:**

# Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior

Volume 1 • March 2014 • Online & In Print • http://orgpsych.annualreviews.org

Editor: Frederick P. Morgeson, The Eli Broad College of Business, Michigan State University

The Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior is devoted to publishing reviews of the industrial and organizational psychology, human resource management, and organizational behavior literature. Topics for review include motivation, selection, teams, training and development, leadership, job performance, strategic HR, cross-cultural issues, work attitudes, entrepreneurship, affect and emotion, organizational change and development, gender and diversity, statistics and research methodologies, and other emerging topics.

# Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until March 2015.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS:**

- An Ounce of Prevention Is Worth a Pound of Cure: Improving Research Quality Before Data Collection, Herman Aguinis, Robert J. Vandenberg
- Burnout and Work Engagement: The JD-R Approach, Arnold B. Bakker, Evangelia Demerouti, Ana Isabel Sanz-Vergel
- Compassion at Work, Jane E. Dutton, Kristina M. Workman, Ashley E. Hardin
- Constructively Managing Conflict in Organizations,
   Dean Tjosvold, Alfred S.H. Wong, Nancy Yi Feng Chen
- Coworkers Behaving Badly: The Impact of Coworker Deviant Behavior upon Individual Employees, Sandra L. Robinson, Wei Wang, Christian Kiewitz
- Delineating and Reviewing the Role of Newcomer Capital in Organizational Socialization, Talya N. Bauer, Berrin Erdogan
- Emotional Intelligence in Organizations, Stéphane Côté
- Employee Voice and Silence, Elizabeth W. Morrison
- Intercultural Competence, Kwok Leung, Soon Ang, Mei Ling Tan
- Learning in the Twenty-First-Century Workplace,
   Raymond A. Noe, Alena D.M. Clarke, Howard J. Klein
- Pay Dispersion, Jason D. Shaw
- Personality and Cognitive Ability as Predictors of Effective Performance at Work, Neal Schmitt

- Perspectives on Power in Organizations, Cameron Anderson, Sebastien Brion
- Psychological Safety: The History, Renaissance, and Future of an Interpersonal Construct, Amy C. Edmondson, Zhike Lei
- Research on Workplace Creativity: A Review and Redirection, Jing Zhou, Inga J. Hoever
- Talent Management: Conceptual Approaches and Practical Challenges, Peter Cappelli, JR Keller
- The Contemporary Career: A Work-Home Perspective, Jeffrey H. Greenhaus, Ellen Ernst Kossek
- The Fascinating Psychological Microfoundations of Strategy and Competitive Advantage, Robert E. Ployhart, Donald Hale, Jr.
- The Psychology of Entrepreneurship, Michael Frese, Michael M. Gielnik
- The Story of Why We Stay: A Review of Job Embeddedness, Thomas William Lee, Tyler C. Burch, Terence R. Mitchell
- What Was, What Is, and What May Be in OP/OB, Lyman W. Porter, Benjamin Schneider
- Where Global and Virtual Meet: The Value of Examining the Intersection of These Elements in Twenty-First-Century Teams, Cristina B. Gibson, Laura Huang, Bradley L. Kirkman, Debra L. Shapiro
- Work–Family Boundary Dynamics, Tammy D. Allen, Eunae Cho, Laurenz L. Meier

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.





## **New From Annual Reviews:**

# Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application

Volume 1 • Online January 2014 • http://statistics.annualreviews.org

Editor: **Stephen E. Fienberg**, *Carnegie Mellon University* Associate Editors: **Nancy Reid**, *University of Toronto* 

Stephen M. Stigler, University of Chicago

The Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application aims to inform statisticians and quantitative methodologists, as well as all scientists and users of statistics about major methodological advances and the computational tools that allow for their implementation. It will include developments in the field of statistics, including theoretical statistical underpinnings of new methodology, as well as developments in specific application domains such as biostatistics and bioinformatics, economics, machine learning, psychology, sociology, and aspects of the physical sciences.

# Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until January 2015.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- · What Is Statistics? Stephen E. Fienberg
- A Systematic Statistical Approach to Evaluating Evidence from Observational Studies, David Madigan, Paul E. Stang, Jesse A. Berlin, Martijn Schuemie, J. Marc Overhage, Marc A. Suchard, Bill Dumouchel, Abraham G. Hartzema, Patrick B. Ryan
- The Role of Statistics in the Discovery of a Higgs Boson, David A. van Dyk
- Brain Imaging Analysis, F. DuBois Bowman
- Statistics and Climate, Peter Guttorp
- Climate Simulators and Climate Projections, Jonathan Rougier, Michael Goldstein
- Probabilistic Forecasting, Tilmann Gneiting, Matthias Katzfuss
- Bayesian Computational Tools, Christian P. Robert
- Bayesian Computation Via Markov Chain Monte Carlo, Radu V. Craiu, Jeffrey S. Rosenthal
- Build, Compute, Critique, Repeat: Data Analysis with Latent Variable Models, David M. Blei
- Structured Regularizers for High-Dimensional Problems: Statistical and Computational Issues, Martin J. Wainwright

- High-Dimensional Statistics with a View Toward Applications in Biology, Peter Bühlmann, Markus Kalisch, Lukas Meier
- Next-Generation Statistical Genetics: Modeling, Penalization, and Optimization in High-Dimensional Data, Kenneth Lange, Jeanette C. Papp, Janet S. Sinsheimer, Eric M. Sobel
- Breaking Bad: Two Decades of Life-Course Data Analysis in Criminology, Developmental Psychology, and Beyond, Elena A. Erosheva, Ross L. Matsueda, Donatello Telesca
- · Event History Analysis, Niels Keiding
- Statistical Evaluation of Forensic DNA Profile Evidence, Christopher D. Steele, David J. Balding
- Using League Table Rankings in Public Policy Formation: Statistical Issues, Harvey Goldstein
- · Statistical Ecology, Ruth King
- Estimating the Number of Species in Microbial Diversity Studies, John Bunge, Amy Willis, Fiona Walsh
- Dynamic Treatment Regimes, Bibhas Chakraborty, Susan A. Murphy
- Statistics and Related Topics in Single-Molecule Biophysics, Hong Qian, S.C. Kou
- Statistics and Quantitative Risk Management for Banking and Insurance, Paul Embrechts, Marius Hofert

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.

